IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case Nos. 79425 AND 79526

ATHANASIOS SKARPELOS, AN INDIVIDUA Electronically Filed

Jul 01 2020 04:59 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant

v.

WEISER ASSET MANAGEMENT, LTD., A BAHAMAS COMPANY, AND WEISER (BAHAMAS) LTD. A BAHAMAS COMPANY,

Respondents.

WEISER ASSET MANAGEMENT, LTD., A BAHAMAS COMPANY, AND WEISER (BAHAMAS) LTD. A BAHAMAS COMPANY,

Appellants,

v.

ATHANASIOS SKARPELOS, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Athanasios "Tom" Skarpelos ("Skarpelos") appeals from a final judgment after trial. NRAP 3A(b)(1). The District Court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment on April 22, 2019 and written notice of its entry was served the same day. 6 JA 2156-2164. On April 25, 2019, Skarpelos filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment pursuant to NRCP 59(e). 6 JA 2183-2248. On August 6, 2019, the District Court entered an order denying that motion. 8 JA 2539. Written notice of the entry of that order was served on August 9, 2019. 8 JA 2572-2582. Skarpelos filed his notice of appeal on August 15, 2019. 8 JA 2596-2615.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is not included among the categories of cases to be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a) nor is it presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b).

/// ///

///

///

///

///

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This was a civil interpleader action involving competing claims to ownership of certain shares of stock ("the Disputed Stock") in Anavex Life Sciences Corp. ("Anavex"). There is no dispute that, prior to 2013, Skarpelos owned the Disputed Stock.

Respondents Weiser Asset Management ("WAM") and Weiser (Bahamas) Ltd. ("Weiser Capital") (referring to themselves collectively as "Weiser"), alleged that Skarpelos agreed to sell the Disputed Stock to "Weiser" in a July 2013 contract.

During this dispute, but at separate times, both WAM and Weiser Capital claimed to own the Disputed Stock based on the July 2013 contract. At trial, Weiser abandoned this position and admitted that, contrary to its position throughout the case, neither WAM nor Weiser Capital owned the Disputed Stock by virtue of the alleged July 2013 contract or any other contract.

Instead, Weiser surprisingly took the position that the July 2013 contract was "meaningless" and that the actual basis of its claim was one for damages, not ownership of the Disputed Stock.¹

Specifically, WAM asserted it had incurred liability as the broker in an April 2013 transaction in which Skarpelos, a WAM client, agreed to sell the Disputed Stock to another WAM customer but did not perform. WAM asserts it credited Skarpelos' account \$250,000 from the buyer's WAM account, but Skarpelos prevented WAM, as broker, from delivering the Disputed Stock to the buyer. WAM claimed it then had to "make it right" with the buyer. This claim was not included in any of Weiser's pleadings. In other words, at trial WAM asserted for the first time a breach of contract claim for damages based on its customer account agreement with Skarpelos.

Following trial, the District Court ruled that Skarpelos was the owner of the Disputed Stock and dismissed all of Weiser's claims, finding no credible evidence that Skarpelos ever agreed to sell the Disputed Stock to WAM or Weiser Capital. However, citing its equitable jurisdiction, the District Court awarded WAM \$245,464.64 in "restitution." The District

¹ Weiser's confusing course of conduct is discussed in more detail below.

Court found Skarpelos had been unjustly enriched by the purported April 2013 credit to his account in the amount of \$250,000 and that Skarpelos had withdrawn substantial sums of money from his account.² The District Court based the award almost entirely on a WAM "Statement of Account" it admitted in evidence over Skarpelos' hearsay objection.

These facts give rise to the following issues on appeal:

- 1. Did the District Court lack subject matter jurisdiction to award WAM equitable relief where WAM had adequate legal remedies it did not pursue—that Skarpelos breached his customer account agreement with WAM by failing to perform the April 2013 agreement to sell the Disputed Stock to another WAM customer, thereby requiring WAM to "make it right" with the other customer?
- 2. Did the District Court deny Skarpelos constitutional due process by awarding WAM monetary relief based on a claim WAM did not plead and

² As discussed below, Skarpelos disputed that his WAM account was ever opened or that he received any money from that account. He also disputed the April 2013 transaction. However, the District Court found against him on these issues.

asserted for the first time at trial, and of which Skarpelos did not have "fair notice" even under Nevada's liberal notice pleading requirements?

3. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in admitting the WAM Statement of Account under the "business records exception" to the hearsay rule where the witness presented by Weiser was neither the custodian of records nor a qualified person under NRS 51.135 and otherwise failed to establish the requirements of that statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As discussed above, this is an appeal of a civil interpleader case involving Skarpelos' and Weiser's competing claims to ownership of the "Disputed Stock."

On November 18, 2015, Nevada Agency and Transfer Company ("NATCO") filed a complaint against Skarpelos and WAM seeking to interplead the Disputed Stock. 1 JA 0001-0012. NATCO subsequently filed an amended complaint naming Weiser Capital as an additional defendant. 1 JA 0030-0042. Skarpelos answered and asserted a cross-claim against WAM and Weiser Capital seeking a judicial declaration that he is the owner of the Disputed Stock and that neither WAM nor Weiser Capital have a claim of ownership to the Disputed Stock. 1 JA 0046-0057.

WAM and Weiser Capital, referring to themselves collectively as

Weiser, answered and asserted a cross-claim for declaratory relief that Weiser
was the owner of the Disputed Stock based on a July 2013 contract in which
Skarpelos allegedly agreed to sell the Disputed Stock to Weiser.³ 1 JA 0058-

³ Weiser did not allege whether WAM or Weiser Capital was the purchaser of the Disputed Stock under the July 2013 contract.

0070. Weiser also asserted claims against Skarpelos for breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing based on the same July 2013 contract. *Id.*

Following close of written discovery, Skarpelos filed a motion for summary judgment which the District Court denied. 1 JA 0160 – 2 JA 0248; 3 JA 0608-0615. Shortly before trial, NATCO sought and obtained a discharge based on its interpleader claim. 4 JA 0714-0716.

The case proceeded to a bench trial on January 28, 2019. 7 JA 1270. The District Court orally pronounced its ruling on February 6, 2019 and entered its written judgment on April 22, 2019. 10 JA 1914-1927, 1951; 11 JA 2156-2164. The District Court found Skarpelos is the owner of the Disputed Stock and that neither WAM nor Weiser Capital have any ownership interest in the Disputed Stock. 11 JA 2162. The District Court concluded that Weiser failed to establish any of its claims and dismissed the same. *Id*.

However, the District Court—citing its equitable jurisdiction—awarded WAM \$245,464.64 based on its finding that WAM had credited \$250,000 to Skarpelos' account in April 2013 as part of a purported sale of the Disputed

Stock to another WAM customer. The District Court, *sua sponte*, awarded Weiser these damages even though Weiser failed to plead any such claim for relief. 11 JA 2162-2163.

Following entry of judgment, Skarpelos moved to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to NRCP 59(e), seeking removal of the monetary award to WAM. 11 JA 2183-2248. The District Court denied the motion and Skarpelos appealed. 13 JA 2539-2544; 13 JA 2595-2615.

Skarpelos also sought and was awarded attorney fees in the amount of \$216,900.50 pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b), and costs in the amount of \$25,752.60. 11 JA 2252-12 JA 2338; 13 JA 2527-2538; 13 JA 2548-2554. On August 29, 2019, Weiser filed a notice of cross-appeal of the District Court's judgment and the order awarding Skarpelos attorney fees. 13 JA 2634-2655. This Court subsequently consolidated the two appellate cases.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

"What are you suing for?"

The District Court asked Weiser's owner, Christos Livadas ("Livadas"), this question on the first day of trial after he essentially

abandoned Weiser's pleadings by testifying that there was no July 2013 contract and that neither WAM nor Weiser Capital were the owners of the Disputed Stock. 7 JA 1326, 1331. The District Court rightfully was confused about the relief Weiser sought because Livadas' testimony was so contradictory to the position Weiser had taken during the previous three years of litigation.

"WAM as the broker/dealer was exposed to liability and covered."

This was, effectively, Weiser's answer to that question. 9 JA 1771-1772. Livadas testified that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock to another WAM customer in April 2013 and that the latter was therefore the intended "owner" of the Disputed Stock. 7 JA 1326. Livadas further testified that, WAM, as the broker in that transaction, was "damaged" as a result of Skarpelos' failure to deliver the Disputed Stock. 7 JA 1315, 1467.

This was a dramatic departure from Weiser's position throughout this case. Nevertheless, the District Court imposed against Skarpelos a substantial equitable award beyond its subject matter jurisdiction and the boundaries of constitutional due process. Skarpelos seeks the reversal of that award.

The Parties

NATCO is a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business in Reno. 1 JA 0030. NATCO provides stock transfer agent and registrar services for corporations, including tracking stock ownership and issuing and canceling stock certificates to reflect changes in ownership. 1 JA 0031-0032; 8 JA 1567. NATCO effectively acts as a corporation's "bookkeeper with respect to its stock register." *Id.* NATCO is the stock transfer agent and registrar for Anavex. 1 JA 0032.

Anavex is a Nevada corporation in the business of developing pharmaceuticals. 8 JA 1471. Anavex stock has been publicly traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market since October 26, 2015. 8 JA 1489.

Skarpelos is one of the founders of Anavex and is currently a director.

8 JA 1471. In October 2009, Anavex issued Skarpelos share Certificate No.

753 by which Skarpelos received 6,633,332 restricted shares of Anavex stock.

6 JA 1135; 8 JA 1471. The Disputed Stock is one-half of the shares represented by Certificate No. 753, or 3,316,666 shares of Anavex Stock.

6 JA 1135. It is undisputed that, prior to April 2013, Skarpelos was the owner

of the Disputed Stock. 4 JA 639. Skarpelos' position throughout the lawsuit is that he was never divested of ownership. 4 JA 0662.

Livadas and Skarpelos are both of Greek heritage and have known each other since the early 1990s. 7 JA 1285. Livadas introduced Skarpelos to WAM in 2011 for the purpose of encouraging Skarpelos to open a brokerage account with WAM. 7 JA 1291.

WAM is a Class 1 broker-dealer registered with the Bahamian Securities Commission. 4 JA 638. WAM is a financial institution that has custody of its customers' assets, typically cash and securities, and executes trades on those assets. 7 JA 1280. Skarpelos applied for a brokerage account with WAM in 2011. 10 JA 2158. Livadas acquired ownership of WAM in December 2014. 3 JA 0482. As discussed below, at times during this dispute, WAM claimed to be the owner of the Disputed Stock.

Weiser Capital is a Bahamian company and an affiliate of WAM. 3 JA 483. Livadas founded Weiser Capital in 2011. 3 JA 0482. Weiser Capital provided client referral services to WAM, for which it was paid a percentage of commissions received by WAM from those referrals. 7 JA 1278. As

discussed below, at times in this litigation, Weiser Capital also claimed to be the owner of the Disputed Stock.

WAM and Weiser Capital are both owned by Weiser Holdings, Ltd. ("Weiser Holdings"), a company owned and controlled by Livadas. 4 JA 638; 7 JA 1278. Weiser Holdings was not a party to this action.

Skarpelos Applies for a Brokerage Account with WAM

In May 2011, Skarpelos applied for a brokerage account with WAM. 6 JA 1137-1147. As part of this process, Skarpelos "deposited" Certificate 753 with WAM as security for opening the account by delivering to WAM the original stock certificate for it to hold in its custody. 11 JA 2158.⁴ Skarpelos testified that he was never notified that the account had been approved and opened. 8 JA 1478-1479, 1492-1493. However, the District Court found Skarpelos' testimony unpersuasive and found that the account had been opened. 10 JA 1918; 11 JA 2158.

⁴ Skarpelos also deposited another Anavex stock certificate, No. 660 that is not at issue in this case.

As such, Skarpelos' account was governed by WAM's "Account Agreement Terms And Conditions." 3 JA 0510. With respect to sale transactions, the agreement provides that the customer agrees to "reimburse 'WAM' for all loss, damage, cost or expense suffered or incurred by 'WAM' through [the customer's] failure to make delivery." *Id.*

The agreement further provided that, in addition to WAM's common law rights, WAM has a general and specific lien over securities held in a customer's account. 3 JA 0512. There is no evidence that WAM notified NATCO, as the transfer agent and registrar of Anavex stock, of its lien rights to Skarpelos' stock or otherwise took any legal action to perfect its lien over Certificate 753.

In March 2013, Skarpelos contacted NATCO and reported Certificate 753 as "lost." 6 JA 1160-1168. NATCO canceled the certificate. *Id.* At trial, Skarpelos testified that he cancelled that certificate because WAM had not communicated with him for some period of time, but the District Court did not find his testimony persuasive. 8 JA 1479-1481; 10 JA 1918-1919.

WAM asserted that, in early April 2013, it brokered the sale of the Disputed Stock from Skarpelos to another WAM customer for \$250,000. 7

JA 1304-1305. Skarpelos disputed that he authorized WAM to sell any of his Anavex stock prior to June or July 2013 and thus disputed the validity of the alleged April 2013 sale to another WAM customer. 8 JA 1482. However, the District Court impliedly found that Skarpelos authorized the April 2013 sale of the Disputed Stock to another WAM customer and that his account was credited \$249,580 (after WAM took a \$420 commission) based on that sale. 10 JA 1923; 11 JA 2158.

Weiser also alleged that Skarpelos withdrew money from his WAM account both before and after the alleged April 2013 sale. 7 JA 1317, 1441. This was based on a Statement of Account admitted into evidence over Skarpelos' hearsay objection. 7 JA 1317. Skarpelos testified that he never received any money from WAM, but the District Court found otherwise. 8 JA 1479.

In July 2013, Skarpelos delivered paperwork to Livadas for a potential sale of Skarpelos' Anavex stock to an unknown third party, but he never heard anything back. 8 JA 1485, 1488. Livadas admitted he later completed that paperwork—including the purported July 2013 contract—for a purpose unrelated to that which was intended. 7 JA 1308-1309, 1314, 1431, 1458.

The District Court found Livadas' conduct in that regard "extremely troubling." 13 JA 2252.

WAM Claims Ownership of the Disputed Stock

Livadas testified that WAM learned in late 2013 that there was a "hold" on Certificate 753. 7 JA1434. Livadas testified that, when this occurs in a transaction like the April 2013 stock sale from Skarpelos to another WAM customer, it exposes WAM to liability to the disappointed party and WAM has to cover that liability. 7 JA 1284. However, there is no evidence WAM took any meaningful action to address the situation at that time. Instead, WAM waited nearly two years after learning there was a problem regarding Certificate 753 before it took any action. 6 JA 1148-1149.

Then, on October 30, 2015, just four days after Anavex stock was listed on Nasdaq, WAM sent a letter to NATCO claiming it had purchased the Disputed Stock from Skarpelos in July 2013. *Id.* WAM demanded, among other things, that NATCO register the Disputed Stock in WAM's name as the owner. *Id.* In subsequent correspondence WAM repeated its claim that it was the owner of the Disputed Stock by virtue of the alleged July 2013 contract in which Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock to WAM. 6 JA 1239-1240, 1241-

1242, 1252-1253. WAM made no mention of the alleged April 2013 transaction in its demands to NATCO—only that WAM was the owner of the Disputed Stock by way of the July 2013 contract.

Skarpelos disputed WAM's claim of ownership. 6 JA 1233-1234. As a result of this dispute, NATCO filed an interpleader lawsuit against WAM and Skarpelos. 1 JA 0001-0012. After NATCO filed its interpleader complaint, WAM's counsel notified NATCO that Weiser Capital may claim ownership of the Disputed Stock and suggested NATCO amend its complaint to add Weiser Capital as party. 8 JA 1578-1579.

NATCO filed its amended complaint naming Skarpelos, WAM and Weiser Capital as defendants who may claim ownership of the Disputed Stock. 1 JA 0030-0042. The only claim NATCO asserted was interpleader of *ownership* of the Disputed Stock. 1 JA 0040-0041.

Skarpelos' and Weiser's Cross-Claims

Skarpelos asserted a cross-claim against WAM and Weiser Capital for declaratory relief. 1 JA 0053-0056. Skarpelos sought a declaration that he is the owner of the Disputed Stock and that neither WAM nor Weiser Capital have any interest in the Disputed Stock. *Id.*

WAM and Weiser Capital, referring to themselves collectively as Weiser, asserted a cross-claim against Skarpelos with three claims for relief: (1) declaratory relief that Weiser is the owner of the Disputed Stock based on the July 2013 contract; (2) breach of contract based on the July 2013 contract; and (3) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing based on the July 2013 contract. 1 JA 0067-0069.

All of Weiser's claims were based squarely on the following allegation: "In July 2013, Weiser and Skarpelos entered into a contract for the sale of a certain amount of stock. Skarpelos, the former owner of the stock, agreed to sell it to Weiser." 1 JA 0067-0068. This cross-claim was Weiser's operative pleading throughout the case. Thus, Weiser chose to lead the District Court and Skarpelos to believe that the July 2013 contract was the sole basis for both its claim of ownership *and* its claim for damages. At no time before, during or after trial did Weiser ever move to amend its pleadings.

While it was clear from its cross-claim that Weiser was basing its entire case on the alleged July 2013 contract, it was entirely unclear which Weiser entity—either WAM or Weiser Capital—claimed to be the actual owner of the Disputed Stock.

Eventually, Weiser Capital Claims Ownership of Disputed Stock

As discussed above, prior to the lawsuit being filed, WAM had sent demand letters to NATCO claiming it was the owner of the Disputed Stock based on the alleged July 2013 contract. However, after Weiser's counsel notified NATCO that Weiser Capital also may claim ownership, it was entirely unclear which Weiser entity was the would-be owner of the Disputed Stock. This uncertainty continued for almost two years of litigation.

In March 2018, Skarpelos filed a motion for summary judgment arguing that there was no evidence that either WAM or Weiser Capital had *paid* the purchase price pursuant to the terms of July 2013 contract, which required payment by September 30, 2013 "or such other date as the parties hereto may agree." 1 JA 0172-0173.⁵ Skarpelos also argued that WAM was not a party to the July 2013 contract. 1 JA 0174; 6 JA 1193.

In its opposition brief filed in April 2018, Weiser took the position that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock to Weiser Capital on April 2, 2013, which transaction was documented by the July 2013 contract upon which all of

⁵ Skarpelos disputed the validity of the July 2013 contract but did not challenge that issue on summary judgment. 1 JA 0171.

Weiser's claims were based. 3 JA 0468, 0471, 0484. At his deposition six months later, Livadas would affirm this position—that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock to Weiser Capital on April 2, 2013, and the July 2013 contract was intended to document that transaction. 5 JA 0945, 7 JA 1428.

This, of course, differed from WAM's pretrial demands to NATCO that precipitated this lawsuit. But it remained Weiser's position up until the first day of trial. In its Trial Statement filed a few days before trial, Weiser reiterated is position that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock to Weiser Capital on April 2, 2013, which transaction was documented by the July 2013 contract. 4 JA 0639-0640. In its Trial Statement, Weiser also emphasized that the July 2013 contract was a "critical document" supporting its claims. 4 JA 0636-0637.

However, Weiser's long-standing position that the July 2013 contract was the basis for its claim that Weiser Capital (and prior to that, WAM) was the owner of the Disputed Stock was, surprisingly, abandoned on the first day of trial.

Weiser Abandons Its Pleadings At Trial

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