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

ARGUMENT 

1. The District Court’s award of the Disputed Stock to Skarpelos 
should be vacated. 
1.1. Skarpelos fails to show how he still owns the same 

Disputed Stock that the District Court found he sold in 
April 2013. 

Weiser’s Combined Opening and Answering Brief (the “Opening Brief”) 

argues that there is no evidence supporting the District Court’s ruling that Skarpelos 

owns the Disputed Stock given two critical findings: 

1. Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock in April 2013 through WAM 
in exchange for $250,000. 11 JA2158(¶8); 11 JA2162(¶28); 10 
JA1919. 

2. As part of that sale, Skarpelos received $250,000 in his WAM 
account and withdrew 98.4% of it in cash. 11 JA2158 (¶¶6, 8); 
11 JA2162(¶28). 
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Opening Brief (“OB”) at 23. Even if the third-party WAM clients–buyers (“WAM 

client–buyers) were the ultimate intended recipients in the April 2013 sale, Weiser 

reasoned that there is no evidence or legal authority showing that the Disputed Stock 

somehow returned to Skarpelos after he sold it in April 2013. Id.  

Skarpelos does not claim that the District Court’s finding that Skarpelos sold 

the Disputed Stock in April 2013 lacked substantial evidence. As previously and not 

disputed by Skarpelos, the District Court rejected Skarpelos’s entire theory of 

ownership at trial. It rejected his claim that he never opened a WAM account. 8 

JA1590–91; 11 JA2158 (¶5). It rejected his claim that he never sold the Disputed 

Stock (8 JA1610), finding that he did so through WAM for $250,000. 11 

JA2158(¶8); 11 JA2162(¶28); 10 JA1919. And where Skarpelos claimed that he 

never received any money through WAM (8 JA1491), the District Court found that 

he received and withdrew $245,464.64 from his WAM account, which represents 

98.4% of the $250,000 for the Disputed Stock. 11 JA2158 (¶¶6, 8); 11 JA2162(¶28). 

In other words, however the District Court reasoned that Skarpelos gets to keep the 

Disputed Stock after he sold it and received the benefits of that sale, it was not 

connected to Skarpelos’s actual claims. 

Given the foregoing, the Opening Brief argued that there is no evidence or 

legal theory supporting the District Court’s finding that the Disputed Stock returned 

to Skarpelos after he sold it and received the proceeds in April 2013. OB at 23–24. 

Nor does Skarpelos offer one. 

Instead, Skarpelos produces a quantity of bullet points purporting to 

demonstrate his own right to the Disputed Stock. Appellant’s Combined Reply Brief 
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and Answering Brief on Cross-Appeal (“Answering Brief” or “AB”) at 11–14. But 

the Court will find no evidence or legal authority supporting the proposition that the 

Disputed Stock returned to Skarpelos after he sold it and received the proceeds 

among these bullet points. Instead, Skarpelos’s bullet points can be grouped into 

three categories, none of which demonstrate his right to post-sale ownership. 

First, most of Skarpelos’s bullet points attempt to disprove WAM’s right to 

the Disputed Stock. Id. But Skarpelos does not deny that in interpleader “each 

claimant is treated as a plaintiff and must recover on the strength of his own right or 

title and not upon the weakness of his adversary’s.” Balish v. Farnham, 546 P.2d 

1297, 1300 (Nev. 1976); OB at 22. So even if WAM failed to prove its own right to 

the Disputed Stock, that failure “does not mean that the other claimant [here, 

Skarpelos] automatically wins.” Id. 

Second, Skarpelos notes that Anavex issued the Certificates to him in 2009. 

AB at 11. But, at best, this shows that he owned the Disputed Stock before the April 

2013 sale. It does not explain how Skarpelos could sell the stock, pocket the 

proceeds, and yet still keep that same stock. 

Third, Skarpelos claims that his cancellation of Certificate 753 (half of which 

constituted the Disputed Stock) prevented any sale in April 2013. AB at 12. But the 

District Court found that Skarpelos cancelled the Certificates on false pretenses. 11 

JA2158(¶7); 10 JA1918–19. And, despite that cancellation, the District Court found 

that Skarpelos nevertheless sold 3,316,666 Anavex shares a month later. 11 

JA2158(¶8); 11 JA2162(¶28); 10 JA1919. Moreover, Skarpelos never informed 

WAM of his cancellation even though the Certificates secured his WAM account 
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and were the subject of the April 2013 sale. OB at 13–14. Accordingly, Skarpelos 

was obligated to produce the 3,316,666 Anavex shares he promised, whatever their 

provenance. In sum, whatever Skarpelos believes he accomplished by fraudulently 

cancelling the Certificates and then entering into a sale concerning them a month 

later, it does not void the April 2013 sale, much less establish his legal right to the 

Disputed Stock. 

Because this case arises in interpleader, the Court may ask whether there 

might be an equitable explanation for the District Court’s award? The answer is 

emphatically no. As explained in Weiser’s Opening Brief and not disputed by 

Skarpelos, this case would not exist had Skarpelos not furtively cancelled Certificate 

753. OB at 14, 24, 29, 53, 54. But for that cancellation, WAM would have 

dematerialized the Disputed Stock from Certificate 753 six months after the April 

2013 sale and used it to substantiate its prior credit to the WAM client–buyers’ 

accounts. Id. The District Court’s award of the Disputed Stock thus not only lacks 

an equitable basis, it affirmatively rewards Skarpelos for his duplicity. 

Because there is no evidentiary, legal, or equitable basis for the District 

Court’s award of the Disputed Stock to Skarpelos, the Court should vacate that 

award. 
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1.2. The District Court erred by not awarding the Disputed 
Stock to WAM. 

1.2.1 The evidence shows that WAM acquired the 
Disputed Stock in the April 2013 sale but was 
unable to transfer it due to Skarpelos’s fraud.  

In the Opening Brief, Weiser showed that the District Court misunderstood 

Livadas’s testimony on the mechanics of the April 2013 sale, which it believed to 

be a direct sale from Skarpelos to the WAM client–buyers in which WAM merely 

played the part of a kind of escrow agent. OB at 24–30. Specifically, Weiser 

comprehensively cited and quoted from Livadas’s testimony, which demonstrated 

that that the sale was really two separate but related transactions. OB at 5–6, 25–29.  

Skarpelos sold the stock to WAM who credited the same amount to the WAM 

client–buyers’ accounts with the intention of substantiating such credits from the 

dematerialized Certificate 753 six months later. Id. Critically, while there are 

obligations between (a) WAM and Skarpelos and (b) WAM and the WAM client–

buyers, there (c) are no direct obligations between Skarpelos and the WAM client–

buyers. Id. Thus, if Skarpelos did not receive the promised $250,000 from the April 

2013 sale, his contractual recourse was directly against WAM, not the WAM client–

buyers whose identities he did not know and with whom he never communicated. 

Id. And if the WAM client–buyers never received the promised 3,316,666 Anavex 

shares, their recourse was directly against WAM, not Skarpelos. Id. at 25–28. Thus, 

when WAM and Skarpelos consummated the April 2013 sale, WAM did the 

following:  
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1. WAM credited Skarpelos’s account with $250,000 (minus the 
$420 processing fee) and, in exchange, debited his account 
3,316,666 Anavex shares from Certificate 753, which Skarpelos 
physically deposited with WAM two years earlier.   

2. WAM debited the WAM client–buyers’ accounts for $250,000 
and, in exchange, credited the buyers’ accounts with the 
3,316,666 Anavex shares it promised. 

And, but for Skarpelos’s cancellation, WAM would have dematerialized Certificate 

753 so that half of its 6,633,332 shares were accounted to the WAM client–buyers. 

OB at 14, 24, 29, 53. Because WAM could not dematerialize Certificate 753, it had 

to procure replacement stock to cover its obligations to those buyers. Id.  

Accordingly, by stymying WAM’s ability to dematerialize Certificate 753, 

Skarpelos breached his obligation to deliver the 3,316,666 Anavex shares to WAM, 

not the WAM client–buyers. When Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock in April 2013, 

the legal right to that stock went to WAM who retained it when it could not pass it 

on to the WAM client–buyers as intended. 

The District Court, however, simply reasoned that WAM should not get the 

Disputed Stock because WAM was never intended to be its ultimate recipient in the 

April 2013 sale, which ignores the realities and mechanics of that sale. 9 JA1771. 

Id. The District Court misconstrued the April 2013 sale to involve a more orthodox 

direct sale from Skarpelos to the WAM client–buyers despite Livadas’s testimony.  

Skarpelos does not claim that Weiser misquoted Livadas’s testimony 

concerning the mechanics of the sale. Nor does Skarpelos attempt to demonstrate 

that the obligations of the April 2013 sale ran directly between himself and the WAM 
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client–buyers. (Recall that Skarpelos’s entire case was premised on denying 

everything.) Instead, he raises three arguments, none of which have merit. 

1.2.2 Livadas repeatedly testified that WAM should own 
the Disputed Stock.   

Skarpelos really, really wants the Court to believe that WAM abandoned its 

ownership claim to the Disputed Stock at trial, asserting this point no fewer than ten 

times in his Answering Brief. AB at 2, 4, 5, 8–9, 12, 15–16, 17, 48, 49, 56. His sole 

basis is the following two-sentence exchange with Livadas during cross-

examination: 

Q. Okay. So Weiser Asset Management does not own 
the stock that’s at issue in this lawsuit, correct? 

A. Correct. 

7 JA1326. Skarpelos, however, presents this exchange in isolation and without any 

regard for the rest of Livadas’s testimony. Putting aside the ambiguous nature of 

what was meant by “own” in the exchange above,1 Livadas repeatedly asserted 

WAM’s right to own the Disputed Stock throughout his testimony.  

After the block-quoted exchange above, Livadas clarified that WAM “owns” 

the stock later in the same cross-examination: 

 
1 WAM did not “own” the stock in the sense that it merely possessed the canceled 
Certificates, which is different from its claim that it should own the stock. Recycling 
the Opening Brief’s truck analogy, if Skarpelos sells his truck to WAM, takes the 
proceeds, but then repossesses physical custody of the truck and refuses to execute 
title documents at the DMV, WAM does not “own” the truck, but it nevertheless has 
a strong legal claim that it should own the truck. 
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A.  . . . Because I’m missing the legalities of it, but I 
guess I can only explain it by process, and in the process 
WAM was in the middle of the buy and sell transaction. 
That transaction closed, and it’s WAM that’s responsible 
to close the process in that transaction, and so to close the 
process in that transaction, it needs to dematerialize that 
certificate. So in my view where the issue lies is WAM is 
stuck with dematerializing the certificate, so it would be 
making the claim to those shares. 

Q.  So WAM is the owner of the shares? 

A.  Yes. 

Q. Okay. 

A.  Yes. 

Q.  Not Weiser Capital. 

A. No. WAM. 

7 JA1342 (emphasis added). Conspicuously, the Answering Brief never mentions 

this exchange. Nor does it mention that Livadas again reiterated WAM’s claim to 

the Disputed Shares on re-cross-examination: 

Q.  Okay. And here at trial you’re claiming WAM is the 
owner; is that correct? 

A.  I’m claiming that WAM needs to end up with the 
position to settle its accounts. And my understanding is 
that it needs to become ultimately the owner of it. 

7 JA1467 (emphasis added). Thus, Skarpelos clearly understood that WAM claimed 

it should own the Disputed Stock at trial, even if he seems to have forgotten it on 

appeal. 
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Further, Livadas’s assertion of WAM’s right to ownership is consistent with 

his repeated explanation that, while the April 2013 sale was supposed to go through 

WAM in such a manner that the WAM client–buyers would be the ultimate 

recipients of the Disputed Stock, Skarpelos thwarted the process by cancelling 

Certificate 753. OB at 25–29; 7 JA1283; 7 JA1331–33; 7 JA1455. WAM was 

obligated to cover the 3,316,666 Anavex shares it had credited to the WAM client–

buyers and was left holding the legal right to the Disputed Stock promised from 

Skarpelos. Id. Indeed, this was Livadas’s testimony during direct (7 JA1283), cross 

(7 JA1331–33), redirect (7 JA1455), and re-cross examination. 7 JA1467. 

1.2.3 The April 2013 sale contained the essential terms to 
constitute a meeting of the minds. 

Weiser’s Opening Brief explained that the District Court erred in concluding 

that there was no “meeting of the minds” sufficient to show that WAM was the 

intended recipient of the Disputed Stock in the April 2013 sale. OB at 28, 30–31. 

Weiser cited to Livadas’s testimony and the circumstances of the sale to show that 

the essential terms were (1) how many shares was Skarpelos liquidating and (2) for 

how much money? Id. at 28–30 (citing 7 JA1303). Livadas further testified that 

WAM could not disclose the identity of the buyers in transactions like the April 2013 

sale. Id. at 29 (citing 7 JA1332). Thus, Weiser cited authorities showing that the 

essential terms were established as a matter of law for a meeting of the minds and 

cited supporting legal authority. Id. at 30–31 (citing Tipton v. Woodbury, 616 F.2d 

170, 177 (5th Cir. 1980); Cattin v. Gen. Motors Corp., 955 F.2d 416, 430 (6th Cir. 
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1992); Raymond G. Schreiber Revocable Trust v. Estate of Knievel, 984 F. Supp. 2d 

1099, 1106 (D. Nev. 2013)). 

Skarpelos does not dispute that, as a matter of law, in such circumstances the 

price and quantity of the shares sold may comprise sufficient terms for a meeting of 

the minds. And, again, Skarpelos does not dispute that his obligations in the April 

2013 sale ran directly through WAM and that there were no contractual obligations 

between him and the WAM client–buyers. Instead, Skarpelos claims that “there is 

no evidence Skarpelos ever intended to sell the Disputed Stock to WAM.” OB at 17.  

This is untrue. Again, Livadas testified that Skarpelos agreed to liquidate 

3,316,666 shares of the Anavex stock he previously deposited with WAM and that 

Skarpelos only cared about receiving the $250,000 in exchange. Id. at 28–30 (7 

JA1303). That is all that is needed under contract law. OB 30–31. Indeed, while the 

District Court found that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock in April 2013, the 

identities of the WAM client–buyers were never known to Skarpelos. 7 JA1332. 

This is additional proof that the ultimate recipients of the Disputed Stock were 

immaterial to the sale. Further, evidence of Skarpelos’s intent to sell the stock to 

WAM includes the following facts: (a) his negotiation of the sale was exclusively 

with WAM, (b) he deposited Certificate 753 with WAM and previously withdrew 

cash against it, (c) he told WAM to sell the Disputed Stock, and (d) he received the 

sale proceeds directly from his WAM account. These circumstances show that 

Skarpelos was simply liquidating Anavex stock already in WAM’s possession 

without regard for how WAM disposed of the stock afterward. 11 JA2158(¶¶5, 6, 7) 

11 JA2162(¶28). 
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1.2.4 Whatever the restricted nature of the Disputed 
Stock, it does not prevent an award to WAM. 

Another oft-repeated theme in Skarpelos’s Answering Brief is his argument 

that the Disputed Stock constituted “restricted shares” and that a sale could not be 

consummated without complying with certain requirements. E.g., AB at 11–12, 16, 

53. As shown below, such requirements apply to the registration of stock transfers 

with NATCO; they do not void the transfers themselves. 

As a threshold issue, this seems to be an argument against the District Court’s 

finding that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock in the April 2013 sale. In other words, 

Skarpelos seems to argue that no sale whatsoever could have taken place because of 

the purported requirements for registration of restricted stock. But, again, Skarpelos 

does not claim that the District Court’s finding was unsupported by substantial 

evidence, much less directly challenge it on appeal. And the District Court never 

mentioned the stock restrictions in its oral or written findings of fact. 10 JA1974–

2021; 11 JA2157–63. Thus, whatever the effect of the restrictions, they did not 

prevent the District Court from concluding that Skarpelos sold the Disputed Stock 

in April 2013. Moreover, as shown below, the District Court had good reason to 

reject Skarpelos’s arguments about such restrictions’ effect on the April 2013 sale. 

Skarpelos claims that WAM never submitted a legal opinion letter to NATCO 

as required to register the transfer, which he believes shows that WAM never 

attempted to complete the registration. AB at 11–12. But Walker, NATCO’s 

representative, testified to the requirements to register transfers of Anavex stock with 

NATCO. 8 JA1567. At no point, however, did Walker testify that the April 2013 
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sale itself was somehow voided without an opinion letter. Indeed, he did not and

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